STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 06 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL JUAN SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001905

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

In a self-defense case, whether the trial court erred in charging the jury they could infer malice based on the “felony murder rule” where the underlying predicate felonies were not inherently dangerous and involved only possession of a firearm?

2.

Whether appellant was entitled to a directed verdict on the attempted murder charge because the State failed to prove appellant had the specific intent to kill the victim where it was undisputed that the victim was not appellant’s intended target in self-defense?

3.

Whether appellant was entitled to a mistrial when, during the solicitor’s closing argument, she tossed the gun on top of the clothing appellant wore the night of the shooting and told the jury that if they had not proved their case, “then find him not guilty. We will give him back all of his stuff and put him back out on the street[?]”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2013, a Richland County grand jury indicted appellant for attempted murder, possession of a stolen pistol, possession of firearm or ammunition by person convicted of a violent felony, unlawful carrying of a pistol, unlawful possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a crime of violence, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 1190-1201. On August 10 – 17, 2015, appellant was tried before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury. R. 1. Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Dolly Garfield represented the State. R. 1. Aimee Zmroczek and Bridgette Brown represented appellant. R. 1.

Judge Hood directed a verdict on the possession of a stolen pistol charge. R. 871, ll. 6 – 18. The jury convicted appellant on the remaining three charges. R. 1170, ll. 1 – 25. Judge Hood sentenced appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for attempted murder, a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent felony, a concurrent term of five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a crime of violence, and a sentence of one year's imprisonment for unlawful carrying of a pistol. R. 1187, ll. 3 – 22. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

In this self-defense case, the trial court erred in charging the jury they could infer malice based on the “felony murder rule” where the underlying predicate felonies were not inherently dangerous and involved only possession of a firearm.

Relevant Facts

Two crucial facts were undisputed in this case. First, it was undisputed that the victim in this highly-publicized case, Martha Childress (“Childress”), was not the intended target of the bullet that tragically left her paralyzed. R. 1071, ll. 24 – 25. Second, it was undisputed that appellant was guilty of two firearm status crimes. Defense counsel conceded appellant’s guilt on these crimes in her opening statement.¹ R. 222, ll. 18 – 23.

A friend of Childress’s testified that they were waiting with a crowd in front of the fountain in Five Points for a taxi when Childress fell. R. 245, ll. 11 – 16. Childress said she could not feel her legs. R. 245, ll. 17 – 19. EMS quickly arrived, found a gunshot wound in Childress’s chest, and transported her to the hospital. R. 229, ll. 8 – 9. R. 232, l. 22 – 233, l. 14. R. 234, l. 16 – 235, l. 6. Childress survived the shooting, but suffered internal injuries and a permanent spinal cord injury. R. 259, l. 16 – 260, l. 5.

The shooting occurred after 2:00 AM early Sunday morning after a Saturday that included the State Fair and a Gamecock road football game. R. 276, ll. 5 – 13. Five

¹ As noted by defense counsel in her opening statement, appellant pled guilty in federal court to a firearm-related crime. R. 222, ll. 18 – 23. During sentencing, Judge Hood stated that it was likely that appellant’s federal sentence would run consecutive to his state sentence. R. 1186, ll. 3 – 14.

Points was crowded. R. 276, ll. 2 – 24. Many witnesses testified they heard more than one shot. Childress’s friend testified she heard “[a]bout four or five” gunshots. R. 245, ll. 11 – 13. The police officer who was the first person to respond to Childress heard at least two shots. R. 277, ll. 16 – 19. He could not tell who fired the shots. R. 277, ll. 18 – 19. Another police officer at the scene admitted on cross-examination that it was possible that he heard multiple shots and that the report he wrote after the incident just used the word “shots.” R. 356, ll. 2 – 24. Many witnesses testified they heard more than one shot. R. 433, ll. 9 – 10 (Ryan Ellison); R. 464, ll. 23 – 25 (Asia Bethel); R. 497, ll. 22 – 23 (Taqayya White); R. 503, ll. 6 – 12 (Byron Tucker); R. 536, ll. 7 – 11 (Shante Bethel); R. 641, ll. 23 – 25 (Donnell Woodard); R. 940, ll. 9 – 12 (Appellant).

The Two Groups

Childress did not know the person who shot her. R. 260, ll. 11-14. Appellant Michael Juan Smith (“Smith”) was in Five Points that night with his girlfriend, Shante Bethel and some of their friends. R. 530, ll. 2 – 4. The people in Smith’s group were Smith, Shante Bethel, Asia Bethel, Taqayya White, and Ryan “Rondo” Ellison (collectively, the “Smith Group”). R. 530, ll. 2 – 4. The Smith Group encountered “a group of three guys.” R. 533, ll. 19 – 24. These three men were Daquan Samuel, Byron Tucker, and Donnell Woodard (collectively, the “Samuel Group”). R. 500, l. 20 – 501, l. 9.

Numerous videos from cameras in Five Points were introduced by both sides during the trial. State’s Exhibit 74 is an edited version that condenses footage from several cameras into one edited video. R. 310, ll. 9 – 19. (State’s Ex. 74). At the very beginning of State’s Exhibit 74, Ryan Ellison is the first of the Smith Group to appear.

(State's Ex. 74). He is a tall, thin, black male wearing a white "Aeropostale" t-shirt. (State's Ex. 74). Two of the other girls in the Smith Group follow Ryan Ellison. (State's Ex. 74). Shante Bethel follows wearing white pants. R. 296, ll. 2 – 11. (State's Ex. 74). Smith is the last of the group wearing a tan outfit with a black undershirt. (State's Ex. 74).

Approximately twenty seconds into State's Exhibit 74, members of the Samuel Group appear. R. 293, ll. 5 – 14. (State's Ex. 74). Byron Tucker is wearing a black shirt that says "Watch Out for the Alphabet Boys." R. 500, ll. 20 – 23. (State's Ex. 74). (Defendant's Ex. 3). Donnell Woodard is wearing a short-sleeved white shirt that says "Bustin' It." R. 638, ll. 21 – 25. (Defendant's Ex. 2). (State's Ex. 74).

The Shooting, the Videos, and the Aftermath

The members of the Samuel Group exchange words with Smith. R. 293, ll. 5 – 14. (State's Ex. 74). Tucker admitted that Woodard used the word "slob" which is a derogatory term that is "a disrespect towards the Bloods." R. 509, ll. 10 – 19. Tucker agreed that Woodard was a criminal and that he knew Woodard was going to cause trouble the night of the shooting. R. 509, ll. 8 – 9. R. 512, ll. 11 – 12. Shante Bethel admitted being affiliated with the Folks gang and stated that the members of the Samuel Group were in the Folk gang. R. 547, ll. 4 – 12. She heard a member of the Samuel Group use the word "slob" and made statements "like throwing down Blood." R. 548, l. 2 – 549, l. 9. She stated that appellant had a lot of friends and family members who were Bloods. R. 548, l. 22 – 549, l. 2. Appellant stated that during this initial altercation with the Samuel Group he heard them call him a "slob." R. 937, ll. 11 – 16. Appellant denied being a member of the Bloods, but said he had many friends who were members. R. 937,

ll. 19 – 22. Shortly thereafter on the video, from another angle, Smith moves a handgun from one pocket to another. (State’s Ex. 74).

From another angle, the Smith Group makes their way through the crowd waiting on taxis near the fountain. (State’s Ex. 74). Childress is visible standing near the curb. (State’s Ex. 74). The Smith Group heads toward an Exxon station past the fountain. (State’s Ex. 74). The Samuel Group is already near the Exxon station. (State’s Ex. 74). Daquan Samuel can be seen wearing a long-sleeved white shirt near Byron Tucker. R. 638, l. 21 – 639, l. 3. (Defendant’s Ex. 2). (State’s Ex. 74).

The Samuel Group turns around and follows the Smith Group. (State’s Ex. 74). The two groups confront each other. (State’s Ex. 74). Childress suddenly falls, which is the moment immediately after the gunshots. (State’s Ex. 74). People duck and run. (State’s Ex. 74). Daquan Samuel begins heading toward the fountain where Childress was shot. (State’s Ex. 74). Donnell Woodard shoots the bird at the Smith Group. R. 642, l. 25 – 643, l. 13.

Defense expert Christopher Watkins (“Watkins”) produced edited videos depicting several camera angles. R. 892, l. 9 – 896, l. 14. (Defendant’s Ex. 6, 21). Watkins “matched up” the times on the videos to synchronize events depicted on the different cameras. R. 896, ll. 6 – 14. The State introduced a version of Watkins’ video as State’s Exhibit 101. R. 827, ll. 6 – 828, l. 18. (State’s Ex. 101).

Samuel runs through the fountain area. (State's Exhibit 101). Samuel appears to

be holding something that looks like a gun in his hand.² (State's Ex. 101). R. 899, ll. 17 – 24. Samuel then runs across the street and hovers near an area with several trash cans. (State's Ex. 101). R. 899, ll. 17 - 24.

Smith took the stand in his own defense. R. 935, ll. 5 – 6. He brought a gun to Five Points because he had been assaulted there a couple of months before the shooting. R. 936, ll. 4 – 24. Smith said they were getting ready to leave when he heard a shot and “somebody screamed they had a gun.” R. 938, ll. 2 – 7. Smith fired one shot back. R. 938, ll. 6 – 9. Smith testified that he “was scared for my life. I was scared I was going to get shot, so I returned a shot.” R. 939, ll. 17 – 19. Smith was extensively cross-examined by the State on the contents of his jail calls which contained inflammatory comments about the victim and witnesses. R. 939, l. 25 – 993, l. 11.

Ellison testified he never saw a gun that night. R. 432, ll. 18 – 20. He heard two or three gunshots, ducked, then ran towards the car. R. 432, l. 24 – 433, l. 10. White testified that the man “in the white shirt, he just started acting crazy, like he was about to pull out a gun, pulling up his shirt.” R. 488, ll. 10 – 20. The man in the white shirt was “clutching” like he was about to pull out a gun. R. 489, ll. 3 – 6. According to White,

² Multiple viewings of this video are unlikely to provide concrete proof of whether Samuel was holding a gun. (State's Ex. 101). The video's lack of clarity did not stop the solicitor from excoriating defense counsel in closing for suggesting that Samuel held a gun and claimed that Samuel only had dark-complected hands. R. 1109, ll. 17 – 23. The solicitor called defense counsel's argument “the most offensive thing that's happened in the courtroom this week.” R. 1109, ll. 17 – 23. As will be further explained below, the erroneous malice charge given by the trial judge relieved the jury of its duty to critically examine the evidence and decide whether the State had disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, the jury deliberated for little more than one hour in a trial that spanned seven days. R. 1177, ll. 17 – 25.

they kept walking and then heard gunshots and started running. R. 489, ll. 10 – 20. She did not see who fired a gun. R. 489, ll.19 – 22.

In the statement White gave the night of the shooting, she told police that a man with braids had a gun. R. 495, ll. 22 – 24. White gave a fake name to the police when she gave this statement. R. 489, l. 23 – 490, l. 6. White said that the police did not accept her statement that another man had a gun. R. 496, l. 25 – 497, l. 9. White agreed with defense counsel that the police issued an arrest warrant and made her come to the station with her mother to “give a statement that they wanted.” R. 496, l. 25 – 497, l. 9. Shante Bethel agreed with White that she saw the man in the white shirt pull up his shirt and gesture. R. 535, ll. 20 – 24. She turned her head. R. 535, ll. 20 – 24. She never saw anyone fire a gun. R. 536, ll. 1 – 6. She did not see any members of the Samuel Group with a gun. R. 536, ll. 2 – 3.

Tucker testified that the Samuel Group was cruising through Five Points just “messaging with people pretty much.” R. 502, ll. 3 – 8. Tucker, who claimed to be “a law-abiding citizen,” said that before they went to Five Points he asked his friends if they had any guns on them. R. 502, ll. 18 – 25. R. 510, ll. 9 – 17. On cross-examination, Tucker admitted telling the police that Woodard was a liar and a member of a rival gang of the Bloods. R. 508, l. 17 – 509, l. 9. Samuel and Woodard tried to talk to the girls in the Smith Group. R. 504, ll. 4 – 17. One of the girls told them they did not have enough money. R. 504, ll. 10 – 17. Samuel pulled out some cash. R. 504, ll. 14 – 17. The Smith Group turned back in their direction and then he heard gunshots. R. 504, l. 18 – 505, l. 4. Tucker admitted that he walked away from the scene “[w]ith a smile.” R. 505, ll. 14 – 17.

Woodard denied being in a gang. R. 641, ll. 17 – 18. He said no one in his group had a gun that evening. R. 641, ll. 19 – 22. Woodard did not see who shot. R. 643, ll. 20 – 23. He admitted that after the shooting, he turned around and shot the bird (with both hands) at the Smith group. R. 643, ll. 3 – 13. Woodard was arrested that evening for disorderly conduct. R. 644, ll. 19 – 21. He had a pending assault and battery charge with the solicitor's office. R. 645, ll. 14 – 17. As for Samuel, even though the ATF knew that Samuel was located in Lawrenceville Georgia, he refused to return to Columbia to testify because he was “fearful of gang retaliation.” R. 826, ll. 13 – 20.

Officer Theodore McLaughlin was on foot patrol in Five Points the night of the shooting. R. 341, ll. 10 – 16. He heard gunshots originating from the fountain area. R. 341, l. 21 – 342, l. 5. On direct examination, Officer McLaughlin claimed that he heard “[o]ne or 2” shots. R. 342, ll. 2 – 5. The report did not say that he heard a pair of shots. R. 356, l. 20 – 357, l. 3.

After hearing the gunshots, Officer McLaughlin ran toward the fountain. R. 342, ll. 6 – 19. He saw appellant running with his hand in his coat pocket. R. 342, l. 20 – 343, l. 3. The officer could tell there was a heavy object in the pocket and caught Smith in front of a pizza restaurant. R. 342, l. 24 – 343, l. 20. He took a pistol from Smith's pocket and detained him. R. 344, l. 12 – 345, l. 18. Officer McLaughlin said the pistol “was still warm to the touch.” R. 346, ll. 1 – 3. Smith told Officer McLaughlin, “I didn't mean to shoot.” R. 350, ll. 3 – 9.

Officer McLaughlin put Smith in the back of the patrol car. R. 351, ll. 13 – 17. He turned on the recording device in the patrol car. R. 351, ll. 20 – 25. When asked whether Smith was in the back of the patrol car for “almost 2 hours,” Officer McLaughlin

replied that he was not sure. R. 358, ll. 5 – 7. Smith was respectful. R. 358, ll. 22 – 23.

The recording was entered into evidence without objection. R. 353, ll. 16 – 22.

Michael Painter (“Painter”) was visiting Five Points from Florence. R. 362, l. 10 – 363, l. 5. He was standing near the fountain. R. 363, ll. 6 – 9. He saw a “black man in a tan jacket and tan pants” standing on the corner. R. 363, ll. 10 – 16. Two black males wearing black shirts and jeans walked up to the man in the tan jacket. R. 363, ll. 13 – 23. Painter saw the two men confront the man in the tan jacket. R. 367, ll. 10 – 21. Painter saw “a muzzle flash and heard a pop, pop.” R. 364, ll. 1 – 2. The muzzle flash came from the man in the tan jacket who ran away from the fountain. R. 364, ll. 5 – 25. Painter did not see anyone else with a gun. R. 365, ll. 1 – 2.

The police found one shell casing at the scene. R. 372, ll. 11 – 20. The police found a blood stain near the fountain. R. 379, ll. 7 – 380, l. 9. The distance from the blood stain to the shell casing was approximately 110 feet. R. 394, ll. 13 – 15. Revolvers do not eject shell casings. R. 411, ll. 5 – 16.

Investigator Gilliam directed the crime scene investigator to collect gunshot residue samples. R. 408, ll. 8 – 14. The police collected gunshot residue samples from two subjects, Smith and Rondo Ellison. R. 373, l. 17 – 374, l. 22. Investigator Gilliam did not direct the collection of a gunshot residue sample from Donnell Woodard. R. 408, ll. 8 – 17.

The Argument Below on the Felony Murder Instruction and the Trial Court’s Ruling

After the close of the evidence, the trial judge heard argument from the parties on jury charges. R. 1038, l. 4 – 1059, l. 10. The State immediately conceded that the court should charge self-defense. R. 1038, ll. 7 – 8. Defense counsel then argued that a felony

murder charge based on the gun indictments was improper because the gun offenses were “status” crimes. R. 1038, l. 12 – 1039, l. 13. Appellant argued that carrying a gun illegally was unlike crimes typically associated with felony murder, “like burglary, armed robbery, where you’re committing an act that is likely to lead.” R. 1038, ll. 18 – 22.

The State argued that the felony murder charge just gives the jury “another way to infer malice.” R. 1039, ll. 15 – 19. Judge Hood asked if any law limited the types of felonies to which the felony murder rule applied and the solicitor replied that she was unaware of any limitation. R. 1039, ll. 20 – 25. The solicitor then clarified her position, stating that the “only language” she had seen said “something about felonies that are inherently dangerous.” R. 1040, ll. 3 – 8. The solicitor then argued that a “person who is not allowed by law to carry a gun would be a felony and is inherently dangerous.” R. 1040, ll. 3 – 8.

Defense counsel argued that allowing the jury to infer malice from the defendant’s illegal possession of a pistol would make him “automatically responsible for the result.” R. 1040, l. 22 – 1041, l. 2. The court then read his proposed felony murder charge and asked the defense for any case “that says gun possession as a felony” does not trigger the rule. R. 1041, ll. 10 – 20. Defense counsel did not respond immediately with a citation, but argued that her research revealed that the felony murder rule “was intended for crimes such as kidnapping, armed robbery, burglary.” R. 1041, ll. 21 – 24. Judge Hood then took up other issues to allow defense counsel an opportunity to provide authority to the court. R. 1041, l. 25 – 1042, l. 7.

After taking up other questions, when the court returned to discussion of the felony murder rule, defense counsel cited Gore v. Leake 261 S.C. 308, 199 S.E.2d 755

(1973) and State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982) *overruled on other grounds* by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (abolishing *in favorem vitae* review). R. 1047, l. 7 – 1048, l. 2. Appellant argued that the felony murder rule only applies “to those felonies which are inherently foreseeable dangers to human life.” R. 1047, ll. 10 – 12.

Judge Hood then ruled that he would give the felony murder charge. R. 1048, l. 17 – 1049, l. 21. The trial court stated:

I believe that the carrying of a firearm in these conditions **with the Defendant’s criminal history** put everybody in an extreme risk of danger that was present in the area that night. . . .

So the difference in this situation is it’s not like we have somebody in the community lawfully carrying a firearm that chooses to, you know, use it or to defend themselves. This is an individual **who based upon his prior criminal history** would not be allowed to carry a firearm period in state court or in federal court. And so I—you know, I think the unlawful carrying of a pistol by a convicted felon in our community in a situation such as a crowd in Five Points and in a situation where, according to his own testimony, he knew was violent, he had been beaten up and assaulted rises to a different level, and I will charge the version of felony murder.

R. 1048, l. 23 – 1049, l. 21 (emphasis added). Judge Hood gave the following charge to the jury:

Now, the law also allows you to infer malice if you conclude that the attempted murder was a proximate direct result of the commission of a felony. And for that regard, two of the gun charges, possession of a weapon by a person being convicted of a crime of violence and possession of a weapon by a person being convicted of a violent felony would be felonies under our law.

You can imply that malice existed if a person in the commission of a felony at the time of the attempted fatal blow, if one attempts to kill

another during the commission of a felony, the inference of malice may arise.

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