ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JAN 25 2017

Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-001905

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Michael Juan Smith,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

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

Further, even if it were error to provide the “felony murder doctrine” charge to the jury, any error is entirely harmless in light of the evidence of malice in the instant case. “Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” State v. Belcher,

385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009). “When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’” State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (citing State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144–45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)).

In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry.

Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted). As the Court found in Middleton, “the only conclusion established by the evidence is that Appellant was guilty of attempted murder.” Id. at 319, 755 S.E.2d at 436. In Middleton, the defendant was firing a gun into a vehicle, while in this case, Appellant was firing a weapon directly at a crowd of people. As in Arnold v. State, “it is clear that the [erroneous jury charge]<sup>3</sup> beyond a reasonable doubt did not contribute to the verdict in this case.” 309 S.C. 157, 170-171, 420 S.E.2d 834, 841 (1992).

“‘Malice’ is the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.” State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998). “It is the doing of a wrongful act intentionally and without just cause or excuse.” Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002). Malice can be inferred from conduct which is so reckless and wanton as to indicate a depravity of mind and general disregard for human life. State v. Mouzon, 231 S.C. 655, 662, 99 S.E.2d 672, 675 (1957). In the context of murder, malice does not require ill-will toward the individual injured, but rather it signifies “a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.” Id. at 662, 99 S.E.2d at 675–76 (quoting State v. Heyward, 197 S.C. 371, 375, 15 S.E.2d 669, 671 (1941)).

---

<sup>3</sup> The State again asserts that the charge was a correct and proper statement of the law in South Carolina and only assumes, arguendo, that the charge in this case was erroneous.

In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. 51, 69, 704 S.E.2d 71, 80 (Ct. App. 2010). The South Carolina Supreme Court recognized long ago:

If one were to fire a loaded gun into a crowd, . . . **the law would infer malice** from the **wickedness** of the act: so also the law will imply that the prisoner intended the natural and probable consequences of his own act, as in the case of shooting a gun into a crowd, the law will imply, from the **wantonness** of the act, **that he intended to kill someone . . . .**

State v. Smith, 33 S.C.L. 77, 80–81, 2 Strob. 77 (S.C. App. L. 1847) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, Appellant’s actions clearly demonstrate “a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others” as well as “conduct which is so reckless and wanton as to indicate a depravity of mind and general disregard for human life.” Again, Appellant, a drunk and high gang member, illegally brought a weapon to the Five Points area of Columbia, and then fired the weapon in the direction of a rival gang member and directly at a crowd of innocent individuals. He testified he “didn’t aim in particular,” and instead, just fired in the direction of a crowd of innocent people. (T.957; State’s Exhibit 74; R. 957). Afterward, he fled the scene. (T.957-958; R. 957-958). Appellant’s actions provided overwhelming evidence of malice, and the jury instruction, even if erroneous, did not contribute to the jury’s determination he acted with malice. The testimony and video of Appellant’s actions established malice well beyond any inference provided by the jury instruction.

Accordingly, this Court should find the jury instruction was a correct and proper statement of the law in South Carolina. Further, the Court should find the instruction applicable to the instant case because Appellant’s actions as a felon in possession of a firearm under the circumstances of this case were inherently dangerous. Finally, even if error to give the charge, any error was entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of malice and the fact the jury instruction could not have contributed to the jury’s determination.

**II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on attempted murder because the State provided sufficient direct and circumstantial evidence of all the required elements to send the case to the jury. Further, the argument on appeal is not preserved for review.**

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because the State failed to prove Appellant had the specific intent to kill the victim and the transferred intent doctrine does not apply. Initially, this issue was never raised to the trial court and is not properly preserved for review on appeal. Even if preserved, the issue is without merit. The crime of attempted murder does not require specific intent. Even if it does require specific intent, it would only require a specific intent to kill someone and not a specific intent to kill the ultimate victim.

**Preservation**

First, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal. In making a motion for directed verdict after the State's case, the defense indicated: "we would move for a directed verdict on the charges under Rule 19 regarding the lack of evidence about the shooting, who was ultimately involved."(T.868; R. 868). The defense never mentioned an argument that transferred intent did not apply, nor did it argue the State failed to prove Appellant had the specific intent to kill the ultimate victim. After Appellant presented his case, he changed his argument for directed verdict, but still did not raise the particular issues being raised on appeal. Instead he maintained:

They've shown no -- this is a specific intent crime. They've shown no specific intent to kill their -- what I understand their theory to be is that he recklessly fired a weapon into a crowd. That's what I understand their theory to be. Your Honor, we would submit that that doesn't meet the specific intent to commit a murder under the statute.

(T.1036; R. 1036). The new argument does not maintain transferred intent should not be allowed, nor does it contend the charges should have been brought as attempted murder charges listing

others as the victim instead of Ms. Childress, the ultimate victim of Appellant's malicious actions. As a result, the issue as raised in Appellant's brief is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal."); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 93, 177 S.E.2d 464, 468 (1970) (stating issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review).<sup>4</sup>

### **Merits**

Initially, the crime of attempted murder should not be considered a specific intent crime, and, therefore, should only require a general intent to kill. The South Carolina Supreme Court is currently considering the issue of whether attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill or only a general intent to act with malice aforethought.<sup>5</sup> When the South Carolina Supreme Court determines attempted murder, like its predecessor ABIK, does not require proof of a specific intent to kill, the State will only be required to prove a general intent and Appellant's issue is without merit. Additionally, once it is determined to be a general intent crime, the theory of "transferred intent" is certainly applicable as it was for a common law charge of ABIK. See State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 276, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 (2000) ("A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim. Accordingly, we hold that the doctrine of transferred intent may be

---

<sup>4</sup> Even if the second directed verdict motion could be found sufficient to raise any issue related to the specific intent to kill, the arguments were not raised during the initial motion for a directed verdict and should be considered waived by not raising known arguments at the first available opportunity.

<sup>5</sup> At the time of this brief, the Supreme Court has held oral arguments in the case of State v. Raheem King, Appellate Case Number 2015-001278, and a decision is pending. The issue is whether by making attempted murder a statutory crime, did the legislature intend it to require proof of a specific intent to kill as opposed to retaining the common law requirements of ABIK, which only required a general intent to act with malice aforethought. See State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996).

used to convict a defendant of ABIK when the defendant kills the intended victim and also injures an unintended victim.”).

If the South Carolina Supreme Court upholds the Court of Appeals decision in King, and finds the statutory attempted murder charge requires proof of a specific intent to kill, it does not eliminate the applicability of the doctrine of “transferred intent.” In Fennell, the South Carolina Supreme Court cited with approval the case of Ochoa v. State, 981 P.2d 1201 (Nev.1999) and its rationale. Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 518. In Ochoa, the Court specifically applied “transferred intent” to all crimes where an **unintended victim** is harmed as a result of a defendant’s **specific intent to harm an intended victim** regardless of whether the intended victim is injured. In that case, the Nevada Court found it was appropriate to charge defendant who killed the intended victim and injured a bystander with a stray bullet with murder and attempted murder. Ochoa, 981 P.2d at 1205 (“Since there was sufficient evidence that Ochoa intended to kill Ortiz, that intent may be transferred to the unintended victim, Smith. As Smith did not die, the appropriate charge was attempted murder.”). This is the same circumstance relating to attempted murder as is present in the instant case. Appellant intended to kill one of three members of a rival gang, and instead shot an innocent, unintended victim. The appropriate charge in this case, as in Ochoa, was attempted murder.

The case relied upon primarily by Appellant to argue that the doctrine of “transferred intent” should not apply, State v. Hinton, 630 A.2d 593 (Conn. 1993), is clearly distinguishable based on the statutory scheme employed in Connecticut. In Hinton, the jury returned guilty verdicts against Hinton on the charges of attempted murder as well as assault in the first degree as it related to a single victim. Id. at 599. The Court found these verdicts were inconsistent based on the **statutory scheme** established in Connecticut. Specifically, the Court noted both the

intentional murder statute and the first two subsections of the assault in the first degree statute specifically provide for the doctrine of “transferred intent” to apply. The general attempt statute, under which attempted murder would be prosecuted in Connecticut as opposed to our specific statute for attempted murder, did not include an express provision allowing for the doctrine of “transferred intent” to apply. The Court found, based on statutory construction and the rule of lenity, that a provision allowing the doctrine of “transferred intent” should not be read into the attempted murder statute. Id. at 601-602. The analysis and reasoning of Hinton are therefore inapposite to the situation in South Carolina because we do not have statutory “transferred intent.”

In South Carolina, the reasoning of Ochoa is clearly more applicable. This Court should find the doctrine of “transferred intent” applicable under the attempted murder statute, find the State presented evidence demonstrating Appellant’s malicious intent, and find the trial court in this case properly allowed the charge of attempted murder of the victim Ms. Childress to be presented to the jury.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellant’s alternative is for the State to charge him with three counts of attempted murder based on his firing of the weapon at the three individuals especially because it is unclear, even through Appellant’s testimony, at which individual he was shooting. The State would then also charge him with assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature under section 16-3-600(B)(1) (Supp. 2015). Appellant is thereby requesting to be subjected to a possible sentence of 110 years instead of 30 years as indicted by the State. This is unnecessary if the Court finds the doctrine of “transferred intent” applicable as the malice towards the three individuals would then apply to the victim in this case.

**III. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a mistrial during closing arguments because the court properly sustained Appellant's objection and issued a curative instruction which cured any possible prejudice.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial based on statements made by the assistant solicitor during closing arguments. The trial court sustained Appellant's objection and issued a curative instruction. This cured any error and the trial court correctly determined a mistrial was not necessary. Further, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal.

**Preservation**

During closing arguments, the assistant solicitor indicated to the jury that if they did not believe Appellant guilty the State would "give him back all of his stuff and put him back out on the street." (T.1133; R. 1133). Appellant immediately objected, and the objection was sustained. (T.1133; R. 1133). The trial court issued a curative instruction, explaining: "Disregard the last statement, ladies and gentlemen." (T.1133; R.1133). Appellant did not contemporaneously move for a mistrial. After the State completed closing argument, the court took a break to allow jurors to stand up and stretch prior to giving his charge. During this time, Appellant did not object to the curative instruction and did not move for a mistrial. (T.1134; R. 1134). It was only after the jury charge was given that Appellant raised his motion for a mistrial. During the motion, however, Appellant never indicated why the curative instruction was insufficient to cure any error and prejudice. (T.1163-1164; R.1163-1164).

As the Supreme Court has explained:

If the trial judge sustains a timely objection to testimony and gives the jury a curative instruction to disregard the testimony, the error is deemed to be cured. No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge's ruling and does not **contemporaneously** make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial.

State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 510, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911–12 (1996) (emphasis added); see also, State v. Greene, 330 S.C. 551, 561, 499 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct. App. 1997) (“A contemporaneous objection to the sufficiency of a curative charge must be made to preserve the issue for appellate review.”); State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 263, 468 S.E.2d 7, 11 (Ct. App. 1996) (“[I]f the objecting party accepts the ruling of the trial [court] and does not contemporaneously object to the sufficiency of a curative instruction or move for mistrial, the error is deemed cured, and the issue is not preserved for appeal.”). It is unlikely the issue is properly preserved for review on appeal.

### **Merits**

Even if properly preserved, the trial court correctly determined any error in the closing argument did not warrant the extreme remedy of a mistrial. A trial judge’s ruling on a motion for a mistrial will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Sparkman, 358 S.C. 491, 495, 596 S.E.2d 375, 377 (2004); State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000). This Court favors the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. See State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999).

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